IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

LESLIE T. WILDE,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

SUPREME COURT FILED

V.

MAR 01 2019

CITY OF DUNSMUIR, et al.

Jorge navarrete Clerk

Defendants and Respondents.

Deputy

After a Published Decision of the Court of Appeal of the State of California Third Appellate District, Case No. C082664

Reversing a Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Siskiyou, Case No. SC CV PT 16-549

Honorable Anne Bouliane, Judge Presiding

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

*John Sullivan Kenny, SBN 39206 jskenny@lawnorcal.com Linda R. Schaap, SBN 171945 lschaap@lawnorcal.com

KENNY & NORINE

1923 Court Street Redding, CA 96001

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Are property related fees under California Constitution, article XIII D, section 6 and other fees which fund essential government services subject to referendum notwithstanding article II, section 9 of the California Constitution?

INTRODUCTION

Defendants the City of Dunsmuir, et al ("City") ask this Court to affirm the trial court's rejection of plaintiff Leslie Wilde's ("Wilde") petition for writ of mandate alleging that the City wrongly refused to process her referendum against the City's increased water supply charge.

The Court of Appeal below erroneously construed California

Constitution, article II, section 9 and articles XIII C and XIII D, the latter of which were adopted by 1996's Proposition 218. Despite precedent interpreting article II, section 9 otherwise, the Court of Appeal's decision ("the Decision") (which remains published pending this Court's decision) applied the disruptive referendum power to revenues that fund essential governmental services. That Decision disregards article XIII C, section 3's express limitation on article II, section 9 as only to the initiative, leaving earlier law governing referenda intact.

The Decision mistook that section 3's silent affirmation of earlier precedent under that section 9 arising from the common canon of construction which goes by the weighty Latin label "expressio unius est exclusion alterius" — to say one thing is to exclude another. The City, the

¹ All references in this brief to articles and sections of articles are to the California Constitution.

lower court and Wilde are in agreement on one thing — Proposition 218 changed the law as to initiative repeal or reduction of water rates, but changed nothing about earlier law on referenda that seek to do so. They disagree as to what that earlier law was. With respect, the City asserts the trial court got it right and the Court of Appeal erred.

Further, the Decision conflicts with the roles afforded registered voters, property owners and other fee payers under article XIII D, section 6, subdivisions (a) and (c) which specify when each has a voice in rate-making otherwise charged to legislators. This creates disharmony among these provisions. This Court may easily harmonize articles II and XIII C by maintaining earlier law.

Additionally, the Decision will result in needless disruption and impairment of public finance — the State's as well as local governments' — making it more difficult and costly to fund such essential government services as water supply.

The City Council properly made the rates challenged here in compliance with Proposition 218's procedural and substantive requirements. Wilde made two, unsuccessful, efforts to prevent these rates from taking effect. She organized a protest effort as article XIII D, section 6, subdivision (a) allows, but could not persuade a majority of her fellow rate-payers to participate. She then placed an initiative on the City's ballot to reduce the rates. This, the City did place on the ballot, but voters rejected it, apparently persuaded the City did, in fact, need additional funds to repair an aging water system. She need not be given a third.

This Court should affirm the trial court's denial of Wilde's petition for a writ to compel an election on her referendum, as article II, section 9 requires. As to referenda, Proposition 218 makes no change in that section. The City's ongoing effort to upgrade its water system to ensure a safe and adequate supply for domestic use and fire safety is a vital project which should not be made uncertain by an unauthorized referendum petition. If Wilde truly wants a third bite at this apple, she may propose another initiative under article XIII C, section 3. Nothing (except, perhaps, for the views of most of her neighbors) precludes her from doing so.

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

I. THE CITY ADOPTS WATER RATES CONSISTENTLY WITH PROPOSITION 218

Dunsmuir is a general law city of fewer than 1,600 people on the upper Sacramento River in the Trinity Mountains along Interstate 5 in southern Siskiyou County. It attracts many tourists to fish, hike and otherwise enjoy the region's scenic, forested beauty. Many of its water mains and a water storage tank are more than 100 years old and must be replaced to maintain a reliable water supply. (CT 77.) These improvements would ensure water delivery at adequate pressures for domestic use and fire protection in major sections of the City — an urgent concern in light of recent disastrous fires in other communities at the urban-wildland interface, as Dunsmuir is. (CT 77.)

An Ad Hoc Water Rate Committee, including two council members and three citizens, met in public session six times. (CT 77.) The Committee

recommended the City Council increase water rates to fund the restoration project. (CT 77.) The proposed rates, implementing a water master plan and supported by a formal rate study, would raise approximately \$15,000,000 over the five years permitted by Gov. Code, § 53756, subdivision (a) [Prop. 218 Omnibus Implementation Act]. The rate structure was of two parts. First, base (fixed monthly) rates were proposed such that, at the end of a five-year period, the City could find the minimum local share needed for federal grants to support the rehabilitation project. (CT 78.) Second, variable rates based on water consumption were set to meet funding requirements for the balance of the project. (CT 78.)

The City conducted the noticed hearing and protest proceeding required by article XIII D, section 6, subdivision (a)(2). Despite Wilde's concerted efforts, just 40 customers submitted protests. (CT 78.)

Approximately 800 were needed for the majority which would bar the proposed rates under article XIII D, section 6, subdivision (a)(2). The City Council therefore unanimously adopted Resolution 2016-02 on March 3, 2016 to impose the increased water rates. (CT 78, 81-84.)

II. WILDE'S REFERENDUM

Wilde circulated a referendum to prevent the Resolution from taking effect. Given the small size of the City, few signatures were needed. (Elec. Code, § 9237 [lesser of 100 signatures or 25 percent of electorate in City with fewer than 1,000 voters sufficient to qualify a referendum].) Wilde obtained approximately 100 signatures, which the County Clerk-Registrar certified. The City took no action on the petition, interpreting article II,

section 9 and article XIII C, section 3 to allow rate challenges by initiative but not referenda.

III. WILDE SEEKS WRIT OF MANDATE

On May 12, 2016 Wilde sought a writ of mandate ordering City to conduct an election on her referendum, seeking to prevent the increased rates from becoming effective. (CT 1–54.) The writ alleged that the referendum complied with all statutory requirements of the Elections Code and that the County Registrar of Voters had verified the number of signatures, but the City had disregarded a claimed ministerial duty to conduct the election. The City opposed, arguing inter alia that article II, section 9 does not permit a referendum on such revenue matters as the rates adopted by Resolution 2016-02, and that nothing in Proposition 218 changes that. (CT 55–87.)

IV. VOTERS REJECT INITIATIVE TO CHANGE WATER RATES

While Wilde's writ was pending in the trial court, she circulated an initiative to reduce the City's water and sewer rates. (City's Motion in the Court of Appeal for Judicial Notice (City's DCA MJN), Declaration of John Sullivan Kenny, Exh. A.) The City submitted the Initiative to the voters. (City's DCA MJN, Exh. B.) On November 8, 2016, the voters rejected it by a substantial margin. (City's DCA MJN, Exh. D.) Thus, Wilde had two opportunities to persuade her neighbors to defeat the rates — in the majority protest proceeding required by article XIII D, section 6, subdivision (a) and at the polls in November 2016. She filed the subject writ of mandate for a third bite at the apple.

V. TRIAL COURT DECIDES PROPOSITION 218 PROVIDES ONLY FOR INITIATIVE POWER FOR WILDE'S CHALLENGE TO WATER RATES

The trial court heard the writ on July 1, 2016. It denied the writ, agreeing with the City's argument that Proposition 218 allows initiatives, but not referenda, as to property related fees. (RT 2–11; CT 131–132.) Wilde timely appealed. (CT 133–134.)

VI. COURT OF APPEAL REVERSES IN A PUBLISHED DECISION

The Third District reversed and remanded with instruction that the Superior Court issue a preemptory writ of mandate to compel the City to place the referendum on the City's next municipal ballot. Unless the City were to call (and pay for) a special election, this will occur in November 2020, delaying the vital repairs of the City's aging water supply system for almost two years. The City consolidates its elections with the statewide general elections pursuant to Elections Code, section 1301. The Decision concludes Proposition 218 did not abridge what it concluded was voters' earlier-established right to referend local revenue measures. The Decision also states that the essential government services exception to direct democracy powers does not apply here because the referendum does not undermine the City's future ability to study, develop and implement a new water rate master plan.

The Court of Appeal filed its Opinion on November 15, 2018. The City sought timely rehearing and the Court of Appeal denied that Petition on December 4, 2018.

The City filed its petition for review December 21, 2018 and this Court granted review on January 30, 2019.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Independent judgment review applies to rate-making disputes under Proposition 218 under Silicon Valley Taxpayers Ass'n, Inc. v. Santa Clara County Open Space Authority (2008) 44 Cal.4th 431 ("Silicon Valley"). However, such review is not de novo. First, the Court starts with an assumption the City acted appropriately: "In applying independent judgment, a trial court must accord a strong presumption of correctness to administrative findings, and ... the burden rests upon the complaining party to show that the administrative decision is contrary to the weight of the evidence." (Fukuda v. City of Angels (1999) 20 Cal.4th 805, 816–817, internal quotations and citations omitted.)

This Court reviews the trial court's factual conclusions for substantial evidence. (*Morgan v. Imperial Irrigation Dist.* (2014) 223 Cal.App.4th 892, 916 ("Under that standard, 'the power of an appellate court begins and ends with the determination as to whether there is **any** substantial evidence, contradicted or uncontradicted, which will support the finding of fact [citation]." [applying Prop. 218]); *Newhall County Water Dist. v. Castaic Lake Water Agency* (2016) 243 Cal.App.4th 1430, 1440 [applying Prop. 26].)

Of course, this Court's review of legal issues, including the meaning of Proposition 218, is de novo. (*Connerly v. State Personnel Bd.* (2006) 37 Cal.4th 1169, 1176.)

Few facts are disputed here, as review is on an unchallenged administrative record and the question is one of pure statutory (or constitutional) construction.

This Court must not shrink from the requirements of Proposition 218. (Silicon Valley, supra, 44 Cal. 3d at p. 448.) Nor may it, however, expand them. (California Cannabis Coalition v. City of Upland (2017) 3 Cal.5th 924, 936 [reading "local agency" under article XIII C, § 2 to exclude voters acting by initiative to harmonize Prop. 218 with the initiative power under Article II]); City of San Buenaventura v. United Water Conservation District (2017) 3 Cal.5th 1191, 1207–1208 ("Ventura") [reading property related fee provisions of article XIII D, section 6 to exclude groundwater augmentation charges due to their regulatory purpose to serve the water conservation goal of article X, § 2].) This Court construes Proposition 218 as the voters approved it, without adding or subtracting language to fit ideological commitments.

LEGAL DISCUSSION

I. ALLOWING REFERENDUM OF WATER RATES WOULD

DEFEAT PROPOSITION 218'S EXPRESS MECHANISM FOR

NEW OR CHANGED PROPERTY RELATED FEES AND

CHARGES

Proposition 13 was intended to provide effective tax and rate payer relief. Since Proposition 13 constrained local government's ability to raise property taxes, which had been the mainstay of local government finance, local governments relied on increasing other revenue tools to finance local

services, typically assessments and property-related fees. Proposition 218 was drafted to protect taxpayers by limiting the methods by which local governments exact this type of revenue from taxpayers without their consent. (*Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Ass'n v. City of Roseville* (2002) 97 Cal.App.4th 637, 640–642.)

Proposition 218 (article XIII D, section 6) imposed procedural requirements and limitations on the imposition of property related fees, granting different roles to property owners and registered voters, respectively, preferring the former. Before adopting or increasing any property related fee, an agency must conduct a public hearing to receive protests. (Cal. Const., art. XIII D, section 6, subdivision (a)(2).) The hearing cannot be held sooner than 45 days after the mailing of notice of the proposed fee or charge to the record property owners or, if the agency determines, to its customers (Ibid.; Gov. Code, § 53755 [Prop. 218 Omnibus Implemental Action of 1997]; Greene v. Marin County Flood Control & Water Conservation Dist. (2010) 49 Cal.4th 277, 290-291 [Omnibus Act good authority to construe Prop. 218].)). One protest is allowed for each property the City serves. (Cal. Const., art. XIII D, section 6, subdivision (a)(2).) If written protests received from a majority of property owners, the agency may not proceed with the rates. (Ibid.) If not, it may.

An additional requirement applies to all property related fees other than those to fund sewer, water, and refuse collection: Except for fees or charges for sewer, water, and refuse collection services, no property related fee or charge shall be imposed or increased unless and until that fee or charge is submitted and approved by a majority vote of the property owners of the property subject to the fee or charge or, at the option of the agency, by a two-thirds vote of the electorate residing in the affected area.

(Article XIII D, section 6, subdivision (c).)

Thus, a simple majority of property owners can approve such a fee, but two-thirds of voters must do so, reflecting Proposition 218's preference for control by those who are obliged to pay a fee.

Article XIII established a new process for enacting rates and charges to protect rate-paying property owners. It mandates owner/rate payer involvement before enactment. It empowers owners/ratepayers to disapprove the imposition or increase of a property related fee charge and to require the agency to abandon its effort.

In treating sewer, water, and refuse collections differently than other property related fees, Proposition 218 recognized these services are essential to public health and safety.

As a further safeguard for those who must bear the cost of government services, Proposition 218 expanded the scope of the initiative process by limiting the force of article II's limitations on the referendum power, which case law had extended to initiatives with similar effect.

Sec. 3. Initiative Power for Local Taxes, Assessments, Fees and Charges. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Constitution, including, but not limited to, Sections 8 and 9 of Article II, the initiative power shall not be prohibited or otherwise limited in matters of reducing or repealing any local tax, assessment, fee or charge. The power of initiative to affect local taxes, assessments, fees and charges shall be applicable to all local governments and neither the Legislature nor any local government charter shall impose a signature requirement higher than that applicable to statewide statutory initiatives.

(Article XIII C, sec. 3.)

Thus, this section 3 changes the force of article II, sections 8 and 9 as to "the initiative power ... in matters of reducing or repealing any local tax, assessment, fee or charge." (Emphasis added.)

Article XIII C, section 3 is silent as to the referendum power. The silence is not an oversight, nor could this Court add words to correct any oversight which might be found. (Vasquez v. State of California (2008) 45 Cal.4th 243, 253.) The role of a referendum — to solicit the view of voters before a measure takes effect (Santa Clara County Local Transportation Authority v. Guardino (1995) 11 Cal.4th 220, 241) — was afforded by article XIII D, section 6's prerequisites for a property related fee — opportunity for a majority protest of property owners, followed by an election of property owners or registered voters, except as to fees to fund

essential water, sewer and trash services. Allowing the referendum to forestall approval of rates and charges for water, sewer and trash charges would give little force to article XIII D, section 6, subdivision (c)'s exemption for the those fees.

To allow rates and charges imposed pursuant to Proposition 218 to be subject to referendum could lead to absurd consequences for fees not within section 6, subdivision (c)'s exception. Property-related flood control charges like that at issue in *Greene*, could survive a majority protest hearing, be approved by an election of a majority of property owners or two-thirds of registered voters and, under the Decision, still be subject to a referendum petition thereafter. Should Proposition 218 be interpreted to allow fees approved by two-thirds of voters to be forestalled by as few as 100 signatures and barred by a simple majority of voters? The Decision calls for process without end. And beyond reason.

Legislation, of course, should be interpreted to effectuate the purpose of the law and to avoid absurd results (*People v. Martinsen* (1987) 193 Cal.App.3d 843, 848; *People v. Pieters* (1991) 52 Cal.3d 894, 898–899.)

Use of referenda to challenge water rates erodes article II, section 9's limits on voters' reserved power to approve or reject laws by referendum. That section 9 prohibits referenda of "urgency statutes, statutes calling elections, and statutes providing for tax levies or appropriations for usual current expenses of the State." (Cal. Const., art. II, sec. 9, emphasis added.) The power — and its exception — apply to local legislation.

(Rossi v. Brown (1995) 9 Cal.4th 688, 703.) In singling out sewer, water, and refuse collection, Proposition 218 recognized that these are essential governmental services that should not be impaired by the referendum process.

Proposition 218 provides means by which property owners and voters may challenge an increase in property related fees. Its omission of the referendum power from article XIII C, section 3 then is purposeful — it provided other means to the same end. This Court can read article XIII C, section 3 as it was written — as limited to initiatives — and leave earlier law as to the referendum undisturbed.

Now we turn to what that law was — and is.

II. ARTICLE II, SECTION 9 PROHIBITS REFERENDA OF "STATUTES PROVIDING FOR TAX LEVIES OR APPROPRIATIONS" AND INCLUDES UTILITY FEES

As noted above, article II, section 9 reserves the referendum power — as to the State and local governments alike — but excludes it as to "statutes providing for tax levies or appropriations for usual current expenses of the State." (Cal. Const. art. II, § 9, subd. (a).)

This exception is intended to stabilize government finance by preventing disruptive referenda of budgets, other appropriations, and the means to fund them. As this Court explained in *Geiger v. Board of Sup'rs of Butte County* (1957) 48 Cal.2d 832, 839–840:

One of the reasons, if not the chief reason, why the

Constitution excepts from the referendum power acts of the

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