SUPREME COURT FILED

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

APR 02 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

S252915

Deputy

LESLIE T. WILDE,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

CITY OF DUNSMUIR et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

Court of Appeal, Third Appellate District, Case No. C082664 Superior Court, County of Siskiyou, Hon. Anne Bouliane Civil Case No. SC CV PT 16-549

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Jonathan M. Coupal, SBN 107815 Trevor A. Grimm, SBN 34258 Timothy A. Bittle, SBN 112300 Laura E. Murray, SBN 255855 Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Foundation 921 Eleventh Street, Suite 1201 Sacramento, CA 95814 Telephone: (916) 444-9950

Telephone: (916) 444-9950 Facsimile: (916) 444-9823

Attorneys for Plaintiff/Appellant Wilde

INTRODUCTION

Defendants City of Dunsmuir, et al. (City), posed the issue presented for review. It asks whether "property related fees under California Constitution, article XIII D, section 6" are subject to referendum "notwithstanding article II, section 9." Article II, section 9 does not, on its face, shield property-related fees from the referendum power. It provides an exception for "tax levies." In the Court of Appeal, "Wilde and the City agree[d] Resolution 2016-02's water rate charges are fees rather than taxes." (Wilde v. City of Dunsmuir (2018) 29 Cal.App.5th 158, 172 n.3.) The City now argues, however, that the term "tax levies" should be construed broadly to include property-related fees. As the solemn guardian of the people's precious referendum power, this Court should reject the City's argument.

I

ARTICLE II, SECTION 9, MUST BE READ TOGETHER WITH ARTICLES XIII C AND XIII D

The City concedes that today the state constitution defines "taxes" in article XIII C, section 1(e), to exclude "property-related fees" (§ 1(e)(7)), which in turn are defined in article XIII D, section 2(e) to exclude taxes.

In the Court of Appeal, the City's brief never once mentioned article II, section 9. The City argued that "section 3 of article XIII C to the California Constitution silently *repealed* voters' right to challenge by referendum the same local levies for which they expressly preserved their power of initiative." (*Wilde*, 29 Cal.App.5th at 163; City's Opening Brief at 11.) Although the City petitioned for "review of a Court of Appeal decision" (CRC, Rule 8.500(b)), not a grant of original jurisdiction, and as to the former, "the Supreme Court normally will not consider an issue that the petitioner failed to timely raise in the Court of Appeal" (*Id.*, Rule 8.500(c)(1)), the City has abandoned the theory that the Court of Appeal ruled on, and now argues for the first time that article II, section 9 *never* permitted the referendum of property-related fees.

(City's Opening Brief at 33.) Despite this clear differentiation between taxes and property-related fees in our current constitution, the City argues that these "modern definitions" cannot inform the Court's decision in this case because article II, section 9 "dates from the establishment of the direct democracy powers in 1911." (City's Opening Brief at 34.)

While article II, section 9 is the source of the referendum power, the thing that Dunsmuir voters wanted to referend was a property-related fee adopted pursuant to article XIII D. If the question is whether that fee is a "tax lev[y] ... for usual current expenses of the [City]," where should the Court turn? Article II, section 9 contains no definitions to assist the Court.

Article XIII D, however, explains that the thing sought to be referended here is "other than" a tax on property. (Art. XIII D, § 2(e).) It is a "user fee" (id.) for the use of water at the property. (Id., § 6(c)). It cannot be appropriated "for usual current expenses" of the City (cf., art. II, § 9) because no property-related fee "may be imposed for general governmental services." (Art. XIII D, § 6(b)(5).) This fee for water service can *only* be used to provide the water service ordered by private customers for their use. (Id., § 6(b).) Unlike compulsory taxes, "[n]o fee or charge may be imposed for a service unless that service is actually used by, or immediately available to, the owner of the property in question." (Id., § 6(b)(4).)

The City's request for this Court to ignore the constitution's "modern definitions" violates rules of construction that abhor compartmentalized interpretations and internal inconsistencies. "It is a cardinal rule of construction that words or phrases are not to be viewed in isolation; instead, each is to be read in the context of the other provisions of the Constitution bearing on the same subject." (Fields v. Eu (1976) 18 Cal.3d 322, 328; Serrano v. Priest

(1971) 5 Cal.3d 584, 596; Wallace v. Payne (1925) 197 Cal. 539, 544.) "In construing the provisions of the Constitution each must be 'read in the context of the other provisions bearing on the same subject. The goal is to harmonize all related provisions if it is reasonably possible to do so without distorting their apparent meaning, and in doing so to give effect to the scheme as a whole." (Harbor v. Deukmejian (1987) 43 Cal.3d 1078, 1093 (quoting Fields v. Eu, 18 Cal.3d at 328 (ellipses & citations omitted).) Here, Proposition 218 (which added the term "property-related fee" to the constitution) and Proposition 26 (which defined the term "tax") bear on the same subject as article II, section 9, insofar as it withholds "tax levies" from the reach of the people's referendum power. That subject is, "what constitutes a 'tax,' and does it include a property-related fee?"

In a case attempting to limit the reach of the initiative power, decided shortly after the initiative and referendum provisions were added to the constitution, this Court ruled that the initiative power "must be interpreted in harmony with the other provisions of the organic law of this state of which it has become a part. To construe it otherwise would be to break down and destroy the barriers and limitations which the constitution, read as a whole, has cast about legislation, both state and local." (Galvin v. Bd. of Supervisors (1925) 195 Cal. 686, 692.)² Propositions 218 and 26 are among "the barriers and limitations which the constitution, read as a whole, has cast about legislation, both state and local." The people's referendum power is not locked in a museum, unable to benefit from subsequent achievements the people have made in sharing control of government finances. It "must be interpreted in harmony with the other provisions."

² Unless noted otherwise, all emphasis is added.

AT THE TIME ARTICLE II, SECTION 9, WAS ADDED, THE LAW ALREADY DISTINGUISHED FEES FROM TAXES

The City's attempt to conceal the modern definitions from view suggests that the modern definitions of "tax" and "fee" deviate significantly from the way those terms were historically used. But that is not true. The City's suggestion that in 1911, when article II, section 9 was added to the constitution, the term "tax levies" was understood to include fees is simply incorrect.

"[T]he language of Proposition 26 is drawn in large part from pre-Proposition 26 case law distinguishing between taxes ... on the one hand, and regulatory and other fees, on the other." (*City of San Buenaventura v. United Water Conservation Dist.* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 1191, 1210.)

Today, the law recognizes three basic classifications of government charges: (1) taxes, (2) benefit assessments, and (3) fees. (Art. XIII D, § 3; Silicon Valley Taxpayers' Assn. v. Santa Clara County. Open Space Auth. (2008) 44 Cal.4th 431, 443.)

In 1911, when article II, section 9 was added to the constitution, the law recognized the same three basic classifications of government charges: (1) taxes, (2) benefit assessments, and (3) fees. First, the law distinguished taxes from benefit assessments:

"Taxes are a public imposition, levied by authority of the government, upon the property of the citizen generally, for the purpose of carrying on the government, while the more restricted term 'assessment' is usually, as it was in the present case, induced by the request ... of a majority of the inhabitants

of the assessment district, and is levied for the benefit of the property situated within the particular district; the assessment being an equivalent from the owner for the improvement made to the value of the property. Such assessments are not collected like public taxes, but generally, as in the case here, a particular mode of recovering the charge is pointed out by the statute." (Wood v. Brady (1885) 68 Cal. 78, 80.)

In fact, in the same year that article II, section 9 was added to the constitution, the Improvement Act of 1911 was added to the Streets and Highways Code, providing a procedure for property owners to propose and vote on the formation of assessment districts for the construction of public improvements that will specially benefit their private property, to be financed by assessments apportioned according to each parcel's benefit. (Sts. & Hwy. Code §§ 5000 et seq.)

More importantly, the law in 1911, like the law today, distinguished taxes from fees. Today, the law recognizes different types of valid fees. "Regulatory fees," generally imposed in connection with business licensing and inspection, are an exercise of the police power to protect public health, safety and welfare. (*Cal. Assn. of Prof. Scientists v. Dept. of Fish & Game* (2000) 79 Cal.App.4th 935, 945.) Regulatory fees can become taxes if they exceed reasonable costs or are imposed for general revenue purposes. (Gov. Code § 50076; *Cal. Farm Bureau Fed'n v. State Water Res. Control Bd.* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 421, 438.)

"User fees" are collected when a local agency does business with citizens in its capacity as an enterprise or property owner. User fees are "charged only to those who use the goods or services. The amount of the charge is related to the actual goods or services provided to the payer." (San Marcos Water Dist. v. San Marcos Unified Sch. Dist. (1986) 42 Cal.3d 154, 162; Isaac v. City of L.A. (1998) 66 Cal.App.4th 586, 597; Utility Audit Co., Inc. v. City of L.A. (2003) 112 Cal.App.4th 950, 957; Bay Area Cellular Tel. Co. v. City of Union City (2008) 162 Cal.App.4th 686, 694.) User fees can become taxes if "(1) the fee exceeds the reasonable cost of providing the service ... or (2) the fee is levied for general revenue purposes." (Isaac, 66 Cal.App.4th at 597; Beaumont Investors v. Beaumont-Cherry Valley Water Dist. (1985) 165 Cal.App.3d 227, 234.)

The water rates at issue in the case at bar are user fees. "Under California case law, water rates are considered user or commodity charges because they are based on the actual consumption of water." (Rincon Del Diablo Mun. Water Dist. v. San Diego County Water Auth. (2004) 121 Cal.App.4th 813, 819.)

The same legal distinction between taxes and fees was recognized in 1911 when the constitution was amended to include the referendum power. That regulatory licensing fees, imposed under the police power, were distinguished from taxes, imposed under the taxing power, is illustrated by this Court's 1850 decision in *People ex rel. Attorney General v. Naglee*, an action instituted to test the constitutionality of a law requiring foreigners to pay a regulatory license fee for the privilege of operating gold mines upon public lands in this State:

"There can scarcely be a doubt that a State law imposing a *tax* upon the personal property of miners, such as their tools, machinery, provisions, and the gold extracted from the earth, would not amount to an usurpation, on the part of the State, of

the constitutional power of Congress to make rules and regulations respecting the public lands. ... But we are of the opinion that [this charge] should rather be viewed in the light of an Act prescribing certain conditions, upon compliance with which, foreigners are to be permitted to reside in a given locality, and pursue a particular branch of business. It is, in truth, what it purports to be, a license law. It was decided in Holmes v. Jennison (14 Pet. 540), in Grove v. Slaughter (15 Pet. 449), and in Prigg v. The Commonwealth of Pennsylvania (16 Pet. 625), that the people of the several States of the Union had reserved to themselves the power of expelling from their borders any person, or class of persons, whom they might deem dangerous to the peace, or likely to produce a physical or moral evil. ... Viewed in this light, it may be regarded as a police regulation, and therefore valid within the principles laid down in Milne v. New York (11 Peters, 132), and fortified by the views of the Court in the License cases (5 Howard, 504), and in the New York and Boston Passenger cases (7 Howard, 283)." (People ex rel. Attv. Gen. v. Naglee (1850) 1 Cal. 232, 241-44; see also People v. McCreery (1868) 34 Cal. 432, 448 ("[Naglee] held that ... the statute did not levy or assess a tax upon property, but required a certain license fee to be paid by those of the specified class, who should pursue the designated business."))

Cases near the turn of the 20th Century when article II, section 9, was added to the constitution, like cases today, distinguished taxes from fees not only as to the source of their power, but also as to the purpose of their expenditure. "Taxes" raise revenue that is unrestricted in its expenditure and

may be appropriated from the General Fund for the general operation of the government. Not so with valid "fees." Services offered by government "must, according to current case law on the subject, provide for a fee which 'does not exceed the reasonable cost of providing the service for which the fee is charged." (Bixel Assocs. v. City of L.A. (1989) 216 Cal.App.3d 1208, 1215.) "An excessive fee that is used to generate general revenue becomes a tax." (Cal. Farm Bureau Fed'n, 51 Cal.4th at 438.)

In 1911 it was similarly understood that fees cannot exceed the cost of service so as to generate General Fund revenue, as explained in this Court's 1906 decision in *County of Plumas v. Wheeler. Wheeler* was an action by the County to recover from sheep ranchers a license fee due for the operation of their business. The ranchers defended by arguing that the fee exceeded the reasonable cost to the County of regulating their business:

"Can the ordinance now before us be sustained as a valid exercise of the power of the county to regulate the business of raising, herding, grazing, and pasturing sheep? The principles affecting the right of legislative bodies in the exercise of what is known as the 'police power,' to place restrictions upon the conduct of lawful pursuits and occupations, are well settled. ... It is also well settled that the power to regulate a business may be exercised by means of a license fee or charge. The amount of the license fee, however, must not be more than is reasonably necessary for the purpose sought, *i.e.* the regulation of the business. If it is so great that the court can plainly see that the purpose of its imposition was to realize a revenue under the guise of regulating the business, the provision for the fee cannot

stand as an exercise of the police power." (County of Plumas v. Wheeler (1906) 149 Cal. 758, 761-63.)

More specific to the case at bar, the law at that time also distinguished taxes from *user fees*. In *Henderson v. Oroville-Wyandotte Irrigation District*, water customers who lived outside the boundaries of an Irrigation District that served them with water sued the District for charging them rates that were higher than the rates paid by resident members of the District. The District defended the suit by arguing that the residents actually bore the same net cost because, in addition to their water rates, they also paid taxes to the District. The Court rejected this defense:

"[The alleged] cost of water to the members of the district, however, includes the revenues from taxes and assessments paid by the members of the district in addition to the acre-foot rate charged all water users. The weak link in the district's argument is that the revenues raised by taxes and assessments are not wholly and perhaps not at all used for the purpose of furnishing and delivering water to the users thereof." (Henderson v. Oroville-Wyandotte Irr. Dist. (1931) 213 Cal. 514, 532; see also Rutherford v. Oroville-Wyandotte Irr. Dist. (1933) 218 Cal. 242, 244-45.)

In Shelton v. City of Los Angeles, a taxpayer sued to enjoin the City from selling bonds, without voter approval, that exceeded the City's debt limit under article XI, section 18, of the state constitution. The bonds were for the repair and construction of water works, to be repaid exclusively from water rates for the sale of water. The sole question before the Court was whether the bonds created an indebtedness to be satisfied out of revenues derived by the

City "from the exercise of the power of taxation." The Court rejected the theory:

"[T]his obligation or 'liability,' as the latter term is used in the constitution, is not a financial one in default of which the city would be required to disburse the general funds of the city or other moneys derived from taxation. The argument that the obligation of the legislative body of the city to safeguard the credit of the city by approving adequate water rates would amount to a 'liability' within the constitutional section is not persuasive." (Shelton v. City of Los Angeles (1929) 206 Cal. 544, 551.)

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